FILED
01-27-2025
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2024AP002177-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DESMOND J. WILHITE,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from an Order Revoking Conditional
Release, Entered in the Dane County Circuit Court,
the Honorable Josann M. Reynolds Presiding

BRIEF OF
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

DAVID J. SUSENS
Assistant State Public Defender
State Bar No. 1099463

Office of the State Public Defender
Post Office Box 7862
Madison, WI 53707-7862
(608) 267-2124
susensd@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Desmond J. Wilhite

ISSUES PRESENTED

The state petitioned to revoke Desmond Wilhite's conditional release under Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(e). At the hearing on the petition, the state presented no evidence that Mr. Wilhite was dangerous or that his safety or the safety of others required revocation.

1. Is Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(e) facially unconstitutional because it permits confinement under an involuntary civil commitment without proof of current mental illness and current dangerousness?

The circuit court did not decide this issue.

2. Did the state otherwise fail to prove by clear and convincing evidence that Mr. Wilhite was dangerous, that his safety or the safety of others required revocation, or that he violated a rule or condition of his release?

The circuit court held that it need not consider dangerousness but found that the state met its burden to prove that Mr. Wilhite violated a rule of his conditional release.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Wilhite does not request oral argument. Mr. Wilhite requests publication under Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a) because this case raises a question of constitutional importance that neither this court nor the Wisconsin Supreme Court has answered in a published opinion. Publication is warranted to clarify the law on an issue of substantial and continuing public interest.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Desmond Wilhite has been committed to the care of the Department of Health Services (DHS) since September 6, 2022, after he was found not guilty by mental disease or defect (NGI) of threatening a law enforcement officer. (R.2:1, R.65:1-2; App. 3-4). Mr. Wilhite was committed for a period of 3 years, which was equivalent to the maximum period of confinement that could be imposed had he been convicted. (R.65:1-2; App. 3-4). The court initially ordered Mr. Wilhite conditionally released.

On January 24, 2024, the state petitioned to revoke Mr. Wilhite's conditional release. (R.117:1-2). According to the petition, the state alleged that on January 12, 2024, Mr. Wilhite violated the rules of his conditional release by "fail[ing] to treat group home staff member, Jonathan Beckett, with courtesy and respect" and "act[ing] disorderly by breaking the

window, kicking the water bucket and throwing OxiClean.” (R. 117:2).

The circuit court held a hearing on the petition over the course of three days. The state called four witnesses to testify. First, the state called Nicole Brierly, Mr. Wilhite’s Department of Corrections (DOC) probation agent. (R.178:4-5; App. 90-10). Ms. Brierly testified that she did not witness the incident at Mr. Wilhite’s group home that prompted the petition to revoke his conditional release and she did not receive any photographs of any purported damage. (R.178:11-12; App. 16-17).

The state then called Jacob Kornelik, Mr. Wilhite’s conditional release case manager. Mr. Kornelik testified that Mr. Wilhite violated his rules of conditional release when, “[p]er the incident reports, Mr. Wilhite was verbally threatening staff in the group home on January 12.” (R.178:27; App. 32). He also testified that he wrote an incident report without witnessing Mr. Wilhite breaking a window, kicking a mop bucket, or spilling OxiClean and without talking to anyone who did witness the incident. (R.178:29-30; App. 34-35). Instead he wrote the report based on another report. (R.178:30-31; App. 35-36).

After Mr. Kornelik testified, the court adjourned the hearing to allow the state to produce evidence of what rules Mr. Wilhite violated and how he violated them. (R.178:35; App. 40). The court explained that “I don’t think in my cursory review of the statute that

there needs to be a showing of dangerousness.” (R.178:35; App. 40).

When the court reconvened, the state called Tyler Mohr, an employee of “Summit 5,” the group home where Mr. Wilhite lived. Mr. Mohr testified that on January 11, 2024, he was working at Summit 5 and observed Mr. Wilhite being loud and making seven or eight phone calls which, according to Mr. Mohr, was against the rules. (R.184:10; App. 52). According to Mr. Mohr, after he told Mr. Wilhite that he could not go outside and took the phone from him, Mr. Wilhite became upset and called Mr. Mohr “a little cry baby bitch” and an “asshole.” (R.184:12-13; App. 54-55). Mr. Mohr acknowledged that Mr. Wilhite did not threaten him or touch him. (R.184:16-17; App. 58-59). Instead, Mr. Wilhite called him names and then went outside to call his social worker. (R.184:16-17; App. 58-59). Mr. Mohr agreed that speaking to his social worker and going outside is often a good coping strategy. (R.184:18; App. 60).

The state then called Jonathan Beckett, a service coordinator for Mr. Wilhite’s group home. (R.184:20-21; App. 62-63). Mr. Beckett testified that he went to the group home on January 12, 2024, and filed an incident report. (R.184:21-22; App. 63-64). According to Mr. Beckett, Mr. Wilhite was frustrated because Mr. Beckett would not discuss the incident from the day before with him. (R.184:23-24; App. 65-66). Mr. Beckett explained that Mr. Wilhite stomped around, slammed a door, threw a phone, kicked a mop bucket, and slammed a window shut. According to

Mr. Beckett the window was off track but he “fixed all that stuff” and Mr. Wilhite tried to help clean up. (R.184:25-26; App. 68-69).

The state then recalled Jacob Kornelik. (R.184:53; App. 95). Mr. Kornelik discussed Mr. Wilhite’s rules and the recommendation that Mr. Wilhite’s conditional release be revoked. (R.184:55-58; App. 95-100). Mr. Kornelik confirmed that Mr. Wilhite called him on January 11, 2024, seeking his help and asking him to come to the group home for support. (R.184:58-59; App. 100-101). Mr. Kornelik confirmed that he was not aware of any allegation that Mr. Wilhite made any threats toward anyone. (R.184:59-60; App. 101-102).

After Mr. Kornelik testified, the court again adjourned the hearing. When the court reconvened, Mr. Wilhite testified. (R.179:3-18; App. 115-30). Mr. Wilhite discussed the stress caused by a previous instance of being assaulted in the group home and his brother’s death in May 2023. (R.179:5-7; App. 118-19). Addressing the allegations from January 11, 2024 and January 12, 2024, Mr. Wilhite denied using profane language against Tyler Mohr and denied threatening or assaulting him. (R.179:11-12; App. 123-24). Mr. Wilhite explained that he immediately cleaned up the mop bucket after knocking it down, tried to clean up the OxiClean after tipping it over. (R.179:14-16; App. 126-28). Mr. Wilhite denied slamming the window but acknowledged that a small plastic piece chipped from the window. (R.179:15; App. 127).

After the court heard testimony from Mr. Wilhite's great-aunt and grandmother about Mr. Wilhite's background and a potential placement in an alternative group home, it issued an oral ruling. According to the court, the decision to revoke conditional release placed it "between a rock and a hard place." (R.179:45; App. 157). After acknowledging that "the law has been changed" and this is "not a situation where I have to find dangerousness," the circuit court revoked Mr. Wilhite's conditional release based on rule violations alone. (R.184:7, R.179:46, R.136:1; App. 5, 49, 158)

In reaching its decision, the court commended Mr. Wilhite for not repeating his "history of aggression and explosiveness," acknowledged Mr. Wilhite's "great strides," and wished that "the parties would have worked together" to come to an agreement "to place him somewhere else." (R.179:46, 48; App. 158, 160).

Explaining its decision, the court found that Mr. Wilhite "acknowledged the broken window, the kicked over mop bucket, and the OxiClean." (R.179:47; App. 159). By the court's own admission, those allegations were not particularly serious. (R.179:47; App. 159). But recognizing that its only choice was to "either grant the petition or deny the petition," the court revoked Mr. Wilhite's conditional release and ordered him confined under DHS care "with some significant trepidation" and without any findings about which rules Mr. Wilhite violated. (R.179:47-48; App. 159-60).

The court entered a written order revoking Mr. Wilhite's conditional release on February 12, 2024. (R.136:1; App. 5). Mr. Wilhite appeals from that order.

ARGUMENT

I. Wisconsin Statute § 971.17(3)(e) is facially unconstitutional because it permits confinement under a civil commitment without proof of current mental illness and current dangerousness.

Because Mr. Wilhite was found NGI, his commitment is civil and any confinement flowing from that commitment is not a criminal sentence or sanction. *State v. Fugere*, 2019 WI 33, ¶29, 386 Wis. 2d 76, 924 N.W.2d 469. Although it is not a sentence, a civil commitment—for any purpose—is “a significant deprivation of liberty that requires due process protection.” *Jones v. United States*, 463 U.S. 354, 361 (1983) (quoting *Addington v. Texas*, 441 U.S. 418, 425 (1979)). In the context of civil commitment, due process “permits the government, on the basis of the [NGI] judgment, to confine [a person] to a mental institution until such time as he has regained his sanity or is no longer a danger to himself or society.” *Jones*, 463 U.S. at 368.

In other words, without proof that a civil committee is currently “both mentally ill and dangerous,” confinement stemming from the commitment violates due process. *Foucha v. Louisiana*, 504 U.S. 71, 77 (1992). Yet under Wis. Stat.

§ 971.17(3)(e), courts may confine an NGI acquittee in a state mental health institute based on a mere rule violation—no matter how minor or technical—without proof of mental illness or dangerousness. Because any confinement under § 971.17(3)(e)—violates due process “absent a determination in civil commitment proceedings of current mental illness¹ and dangerousness,” the statute is facially unconstitutional. *Foucha*, 504 U.S. at 78-79.

A. Standard of proof and standard of review.

Statutes are presumed constitutional and the challenger currently bears the burden of proving that the statute is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt.² *Mayo v. Wisconsin Injured Patients and Families Comp. Fund*, 2018 WI 78, ¶¶25-26, 383 Wis. 2d 1, 914 N.W.2d 678. To succeed on a facial challenge, “the challenger must show that the statute

¹ Mr. Wilhite does not dispute the fact that he was mentally ill at the time of his revocation. While that fact would be relevant to the merits of an as-applied challenge, a facial challenge must focus on the constitutionality of the text of the statute. *State v. Wood*, 2010 WI 17, ¶13, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63.

² In *Mayo*, the concurring opinion of Justice Rebecca Bradley argued that the party challenging a statute need only make a “plain showing” of unconstitutionality. *Mayo*, 383 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶79-80. This court is bound by the majority in *Mayo* but Mr. Wilhite preserves the question of whether Wisconsin should follow the United States Supreme Court and employ a burden of proof that is less deferential to statutory language. See *United States v. Morrison*, 529 U.S. 598, 607 (2000).

cannot be enforced under any circumstances.” *Wood*, 323 Wis. 2d. 321, ¶13. A successful facial challenge renders the law “void from its beginning to end.” *Id.*

The constitutionality of a statute is a question of law that appellate courts review de novo. *State v. Forrett*, 2022 WI 37, ¶5, 401 Wis. 2d 678, 974 N.W.2d 22. The interpretation of statutes is also a question of law reviewed de novo. *Id.*

B. The Due Process Clause requires proof that a person is currently mentally ill and dangerous before an NGI acquittee can be confined.

The purpose of an NGI commitment, “is to treat the individual’s mental illness and protect him and society from his potential dangerousness” and the finding of NGI is an acceptable constitutional foundation for the original commitment for treatment and protection of society. *Jones*, 364 U.S. at 366, 368. But, even though initial confinement under an NGI commitment may be permitted based on the acquittee’s dangerousness and mental illness at the time, confinement can “not constitutionally continue after that basis no longer exist[s].” *O’Connor v. Donaldson*, 422 U.S. 563, 574-75 (1975).

While the state may “imprison convicted criminals for the purpose of deterrence and retribution, without a criminal conviction, the government has no “punitive interest” in an NGI acquittee’s confinement. *Foucha*, 504 U.S. at 80. Thus, “keeping [an NGI acquittee] against his will in a

mental institution is improper absent a determination in civil commitment proceedings of current mental illness and dangerousness.” *Foucha*, 504 U.S. at 78.

Even past sexually violent behavior and a “finding of dangerousness, standing alone,” are not enough to justify civil confinement under the Due Process Clause. *Kansas v. Hendricks*, 521 U.S. 346, 358 (1997). Past violence and statutory dangerousness requirements must be connected to a mental condition that “narrows the class of persons eligible for confinement to those who are unable to control their dangerousness.” *Id.*

Relying on *Foucha*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has held that—given the “significant deprivation of liberty” involved in any civil commitment—due process demands “clear and convincing evidence that the individual is mentally ill *and* dangerousness” to support confinement under a civil commitment. *Portage County v. J.W.K.*, 2019 WI 54, ¶16, 386 Wis. 2d 672, 927 N.W.2d 509 (emphasis added). Because the commitment “cannot continue after the constitutional basis for it ceases to exist; the findings of mental illness and dangerousness must be current, not retrospective.” *Id.* (citing *Foucha*, 504 U.S. at 77-78).

Despite the clear rule in *Foucha* and *J.W.K.* requiring both mental illness and dangerousness, Wisconsin courts are alone in permitting confinement of “insanity acquittees based on dangerousness alone.” *State v. Randall*, 192 Wis. 2d 800, 532 N.W.2d 94

(1995) (*Randall I*). While this Court is bound by *Randall I*, it need not decide whether proof of current mental illness is required because Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(e) unconstitutionally permits confinement of an NGI acquittee without proof of current dangerousness.

C. Wisconsin Statute § 971.17(3)(e) violates due process because it requires no proof of dangerousness.

Treatment of an NGI acquittee's mental illness and protection from an acquittee's dangerousness are the only "legitimate purposes of commitment following an acquittal by reason of insanity in Wisconsin." *Randall I*, 192 Wis. 2d at 833. But the plain language of Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(e) allows for confinement without proof that the revocation of conditional release is based on either purpose.

Historically, Wisconsin courts required a dangerousness finding to support revocation of conditional release under Wis. Stat. § 971.17. The Wisconsin Supreme Court explicitly held that "the standard on *recommitment* for those found not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect is the standard of dangerousness." *State v. Gebarski*, 90 Wis. 2d 754, 769, 280 N.W.2d 672 (1979). Likewise, this Court has held that "the focus of the inquiry at any stage of post-commitment proceedings under § 971.17 is properly upon the concept of dangerousness." *State v. Mahone*, 127 Wis. 2d 364, 376, 379 N.W.2d 878 (Ct. App. 1985).

Yet the legislature eliminated the statutory dangerousness requirement through the enactment of 1989 Wis. Act 334. Through 1989 Wis. Act 334, the legislature modified the standard for revocation of conditional release by replacing the conjunctive term “and” to the disjunctive term “or.” Under current law, at a hearing on a petition to revoke conditional release, the state “has the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that any rule or condition of release has been violated, *or* that the safety of the person or others requires that conditional release be revoked.” Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(e) (emphasis added).

Now, Wisconsin’s conditional release revocation statute no longer requires a finding that both “the conditions of release have not been adhered to *and* that [the NGI acquittee] poses a *danger* to the safety of others or himself.” *State v. Jefferson*, 163 Wis. 2d 332, 340, 471 N.W.2d 274 (Ct. App. 1991). Instead, under the plain language of Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(e), if the circuit court determines that the state met its burden to prove that an NGI acquittee violated a rule or condition of release, it may revoke conditional release and order the acquittee’s placement in institutional care without proof of current dangerousness.

“Freedom from physical restraint has always been at the core of the liberty protected by the Due Process Clause from arbitrary government action.” *Foucha*, 504 U.S. at 80. Because the plain language of Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(e) allows the circuit court to physically restrain an NGI acquittee without

requiring the state to prove that the acquittee is dangerous, confinement under that provision violates due process. *Randall I*, 192 Wis. 2d at 840-41.

Randall I teaches that the Due Process Clause demands a finding of dangerousness despite the statutory changes to Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(e). According to *Randall I*, Wisconsin’s “single standard for [NGI] recommitment” permits confinement only when the state presents “clear and convincing evidence that the person would pose a significant risk of bodily harm to himself or others or of serious property damage if conditionally released.” *Id.* at 838, 841.

Contrary to the “single standard for recommitment” in *Randall I*, the state bears no burden to present “proof of present dangerousness” as defined by the legislature in Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(a). *Mahone*, 127 Wis. 2d at 375. Because due process always requires a dangerousness finding and Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(e) never requires the state to prove dangerousness, the provision cannot be enforced “under any circumstances.” *Wood*, 323 Wis. 2d 321, ¶13. Thus the statute is unconstitutional and Mr. Wilhite’s conditional release must be reinstated.

II. The state failed to present sufficient evidence to prove that Mr. Wilhite was dangerous, that his safety or the safety of others required revocation, or that he violated a rule of conditional release.

Even if this Court decides or assumes that Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(e) is facially constitutional, Wisconsin's "single standard for recommitment" requires proof of current dangerousness to comport with due process. *Randall I*, 192 Wis. 2d at 833, 840-41. Yet here the state presented no evidence to satisfy either the standard for dangerousness in Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(a), or to satisfy its burden under Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(e). Thus, Mr. Wilhite's confinement violates due process and this Court should reverse and vacate the order revoking his conditional release.

A. Standard of review.

Whether the government met its burden to prove that Mr. Wilhite is dangerous is a mixed question of law and fact. *Langlade Cty. v. D.J.W.*, 2020 WI 41, ¶24, 391 Wis. 2d 231, 942 N.W.2d 277. This Court will not overturn the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are "clearly erroneous" and the application of those facts to the statutory standard is a question of law reviewed de novo. *Id.*, ¶¶24-25. Review of a circuit court's decision revoking an NGI acquittee's conditional release is subject to the same standard. *Jefferson*, 163 Wis. 2d at 338.

B. The state failed to prove that Mr. Wilhite was dangerous or that a safety concern required revocation of conditional release.

The circuit court's oral ruling and the written order show that it did not find that a safety concern justified revocation. (R.179:46-48; R.136:1; App. 5, 158-60). The circuit court's oral ruling also shows that it never even considered dangerousness. Recognizing that "the law has been changed" and this is "not a situation where I have to find dangerousness," the circuit court revoked Mr. Wilhite's conditional release based on rule violations alone. (R.184:7, R.179:46, R.136:1; App. 5, 49, 158).

The standard for "dangerousness" under Wisconsin's NGI commitment scheme is defined in Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(a) and (4)(d) and requires clear and convincing evidence that "the person would pose a significant risk of bodily harm to himself or herself or to other or of serious property damage on conditional release." *See Wood*, 323 Wis. 2d 17, ¶35 ("[A] significant risk of bodily harm to himself or herself or to others or of serious property damage" is the "equivalent of dangerousness").

Even if the circuit court had considered that standard, the evidence presented never established any significant risk of bodily harm or property damage. While testimony suggested that Mr. Wilhite—in anger and frustration—used profanities, threw a phone, kicked a mop bucket,

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