FILED
04-09-2025
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2024AP2177-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DESMOND J. WILHITE,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER REVOKING CONDITIONAL
RELEASE, ENTERED IN THE DANE COUNTY
CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE
JOSANN M. REYNOLDS, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

JOSHUA L. KAUL
Attorney General of Wisconsin

DONALD V. LATORRACA
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice
Post Office Box 7857
Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857
(608) 267-2797
(608) 294-2907 (Fax)
latorracadv@doj.state.wi.us

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

Neither Wilhite's release team nor the circuit court should have had to wait for Wilhite to physically harm himself or others before revoking his conditional release. Under the circumstances, the circuit court reasonably exercised its discretion under section 971.17(3)(e) ("may revoke") when it revoked Wilhite.⁶

⁶ If this Court determines that proof of dangerousness is required to revoke and that the record is insufficient, then this Court should remand the matter for further proceedings. Because Wilhite failed to raise the issue in the circuit court, the State and the circuit court believed that revocation could occur based on a rules violation alone. *See infra* Section II.A.1. and C.

II. Wilhite’s facial constitutional challenge to section 971.17(3)(e) fails on procedural grounds and on the merits.

A. Wilhite forfeited this Court’s review of his constitutional challenge.

1. Wisconsin Stat. § 971.17(7m) required Wilhite to raise his constitutional challenge in circuit court.

Wisconsin Stat. § 971.17(7m) provides that an NGI committee “shall file a motion for postdisposition relief in the circuit court before a notice of appeal is filed unless the grounds for seeking relief are sufficiency of the evidence or issues previously raised.” This language is mandatory: “[W]e conclude that the plain meaning of Wis. Stat. § 971.17(7m) requires a postdisposition motion when an issue has not been previously raised.” *See Klapps*, 395 Wis. 2d 743, ¶ 20.

Klapps involved an NGI committee who argued on appeal that the circuit court was biased in revoking his conditional release. *Klapps*, 395 Wis. 2d 743, ¶¶ 12, 16. He did not object to the court’s actions at his evidentiary hearing, nor did he raise his challenge in a postdisposition motion. *Id.* ¶¶ 12, 14. *Klapps* contended that the error was structural and did not need to be preserved at the circuit court. *Id.* ¶ 16. This Court disagreed, noting that the requirement that new issues be raised in a postdisposition motion “is not a mere rule of convenience.” *Id.* ¶ 25. Rather, “it is essential to the orderly administration of justice, as it promotes efficiency and justice by giving the parties and the trial judge notice” and the opportunity “to correct or avoid the alleged error . . . all to the end of eliminating the need for appeal.” *Id.*

Wilhite, as the party raising a challenge to section 971.17(3)(e)’s constitutionality, cannot meet his burden of demonstrating that he preserved the issue in the circuit court. *State v. Huebner*, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 10, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611

N.W.2d 727. He does not even allege that he asserted his constitutional challenge in the circuit court before or during revocation proceedings. (Wilhite's Br. 7–18.) And Wilhite did not file a section 971.17(7m) postdisposition motion raising his constitutional challenge. (R. 198.)

Wilhite's failure to develop his claim in the circuit court deprived the State and the circuit court notice of the alleged error and an opportunity to correct or avoid any error, which could have made this appeal unnecessary. *Klapps*, 395 Wis. 2d 743, ¶ 25. For example, had Wilhite asserted before trial that the Due Process Clause foreclosed revocation of conditional release without a showing of dangerousness, the State could have litigated the revocation hearing differently by presenting additional evidence of dangerousness. And instead of deciding the case based on a rule or condition violation (R. 179:46), the circuit court could have determined explicitly whether Wilhite was dangerous under section 971.17(3)(e). Moreover, the circuit court might have chosen to exercise its discretion differently and declined to revoke release if the State could only prove a rules violation and not dangerousness. Wis. Stat. § 917.17(3)(e) (“it *may* revoke”).

Similarly, had Wilhite raised his constitutional claim through a section 971.17(7m) postdisposition motion, the circuit court could have addressed his claim by reopening the evidence to allow the State to offer evidence of dangerousness, by reconsidering its decision to revoke conditional release, or by deciding the merits of his constitutional claim.

And if Wilhite did not realize that he had a constitutional claim until after he filed his notice of appeal, he could have asked this Court “for remand to the circuit court for action upon specific issues,” and this Court could then have reviewed the circuit court's order entered after remand. Wis. Stat. §§ (Rule) 808.075(5), (8).

This Court should conclude, as it did in *Klapps*, 395 Wis. 2d 743, ¶¶ 26–29, that Wilhite forfeited appellate review of his constitutional challenge to the revocation of his conditional release by failing to preserve it in the circuit court.⁷

2. Wilhite’s noncompliance with the Declaratory Judgments Act, Wis. Stat. § 806.04(11), forecloses judicial review of his facial challenge.

In addition to Wilhite’s forfeiture of his constitutional claim, this Court should decline review for another reason: Wilhite’s noncompliance with section 806.04(11).

Section 806.04(11) requires a party challenging a statute’s constitutionality to serve the Attorney General with a copy of the proceeding. And when a challenge relates to a statute’s construction or validity, this section, as amended by 2017 Wis. Act 369, also requires service of a copy of the proceedings on certain legislative officials, including “the speaker of the assembly, the president of the senate, and the senate majority leader.” Wis. Stat. § 806.04(11).

In *Kurtz v. City of Waukesha*, 91 Wis. 2d 103, 116, 280 N.W.2d 757 (1979), the Wisconsin Supreme Court recognized that even when an “appeal does not involve an action for declaratory judgment, a pronouncement by this court on the constitutionality of an act is precedent no matter how the issue is presented.” Therefore, it “conclude[d] that cogent reasons exist for the application of the service requirement in

⁷ In *State v. Klapps*, 2021 WI App 5, ¶ 28, 395 Wis. 2d 743, 954 N.W.2d 38, this Court addressed Klapps’s unreserved, judicial bias claim through its exercise of its discretionary reversal authority under Wis. Stat. § 752.35. Wilhite has not asked this Court to exercise its discretionary reversal authority, and this Court should not develop the argument for him. *State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646–47, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992).

all cases involving constitutional challenges.” *Id.* at 117. The Wisconsin Supreme Court later clarified the *Kurtz* rule, holding that noncompliance with section 806.04(11) was not jurisdictional and was curable when the underlying action did not seek a declaratory judgment. *Brown Cnty. Hum. Servs. v. B.P.*, 2019 WI App 18, ¶ 27, 386 Wis. 2d 557, 927 N.W.2d 560 (citation omitted).

Wilhite has not demonstrated that he complied with his duty to notify the Attorney General and the appropriate legislative officials, as section 806.04(11) requires. This Court should not allow him to prospectively cure the defect through service *after* the State files its brief in this matter. In *B.P.*, 386 Wis. 2d 557, ¶¶ 27–28, this Court declined to consider a constitutional challenge where notice was not given and the party raised the challenge “for the first time on appeal.” Likewise, Wilhite did not raise and develop his facial constitutional challenge to section 971.17(3)(e) until his appeal, and this Court should decline his invitation to address it now.

Had Wilhite given timely service, the Attorney General could have appeared or, alternatively, advised and consulted with the district attorney under Wis. Stat. § 165.25(3), for the purpose of developing the circuit court record. In consultation with the Attorney General, the district attorney may have decided to present evidence to show Wilhite’s dangerous and avoid the issue altogether. And the Attorney General or the district attorney could have made and preserved the arguments necessary to sustain section 971.17(3)(e)’s constitutionality. *See supra* Section II.A.1.

Wilhite might suggest that filing his brief here constitutes sufficient service on the Attorney General and cures his noncompliance with section 806.04(11). But such a response overlooks the broad scope of the Attorney General’s responsibilities—responsibilities that transcend its representation of the State in criminal appeals. Wis. Stat.

§ 165.25(1). A constitutional challenge like Wilhite's implicates other core functions of the Department of Justice, including its duty to represent State agencies, officials, and employees in civil actions brought against them based on alleged civil rights violations. Wis. Stat. §§ 165.25(1m), (6). This is especially problematic when the challenge is not an as-applied challenge, but a facial constitutional challenge that, if successful, would effectively result in a declaration that section 971.17(3)(e) is unconstitutional and will impact how DHS manages *all* conditionally released insanity acquittees. Moreover, service of the brief on the Department of Justice does not satisfy Wilhite's responsibility under section 806.04(11) to notify the Legislature of his challenges.

Wilhite's decision to wait until his appeal to develop his facial challenge to section 971.17(3)(e) undermines the Legislature's expressed policy to require litigants to serve notice of constitutional challenges on the Attorney General and on the Legislature's leadership. It deprived these constitutional officers of a meaningful opportunity to develop the record and defend the statute in the circuit court. This Court should decline to consider Wilhite's facial challenge based on his failure to prove compliance with section 806.04(11)'s service requirements.

3. This Court's subject matter jurisdiction aside, section 971.17(7m) specifies what issues this Court is competent to address on appeal.

Wilhite may reply that his facial constitutional challenge to section 971.17(3)(e) "is a matter of subject matter jurisdiction and cannot be waived." *State v. Bush*, 2005 WI 103, ¶ 17, 283 Wis. 2d 90, 699 N.W.2d 80, *holding modified by City of Eau Claire v. Booth*, 2016 WI 65, ¶ 17, 370 Wis. 2d 595, 882 N.W.2d 738. But subject matter jurisdiction does not, by itself, confer competency on a court, including this Court, to decide an issue.

“[S]ubject matter jurisdiction and competence are related but distinct concepts.” *City of Cedarburg v. Hansen*, 2020 WI 11, ¶ 49, 390 Wis. 2d 109, 938 N.W.2d 463, *opinion modified*, 2020 WI 45, 391 Wis. 2d 671, 943 N.W.2d 544. While “subject matter jurisdiction is about the type or category of case brought[,] [c]ompetence presupposes a court has subject matter jurisdiction and is about a court’s ability to exercise its jurisdiction in an individual case.” *Id.* In contrast to subject matter jurisdiction, “[s]tatutory competency . . . defines a circuit court’s ‘ability to undertake a consideration of the specific case or issue before it.’” *State v. Sanders*, 2018 WI 51, ¶ 20, 381 Wis. 2d 522, 912 N.W.2d 16 (citation omitted). And “noncompliance with statutory requirements pertaining to the invocation of [a court’s] jurisdiction” may affect a court’s “ability to exercise its subject matter jurisdiction.” *Hansen*, 390 Wis. 2d 109, ¶ 49 (citation omitted).

Just because a court has subject matter jurisdiction over an issue does not mean that it has competency to decide an issue that is raised for the first time on appeal. Through section 971.17(7m), the Legislature established a procedure that specifies what claims a litigant can raise on appeal: a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, an issue previously raised, and a claim raised through a motion for postdisposition relief. As such, it is a rule of statutory competency because it limits what issues this Court can consider on appeal. *See Vill. of Trempealeau v. Mikrut*, 2004 WI 79, ¶¶ 12–13, 273 Wis. 2d 76, 681 N.W.2d 190 (discussing circumstances with noncompliance with statutory procedures, including time limits, resulting in loss of competency). Section 971.17(7m) does not confer competency

on this Court to reach Wilhite's unpreserved claims as a matter of right. And this Court should not do so.⁸

⁸ Wisconsin Supreme Court decisions have stated that a facial constitutional challenge goes to a circuit court's subject matter jurisdiction and cannot be waived. *State v. Cole*, 2003 WI 112, ¶ 46, 264 Wis. 2d 520, 665 N.W.2d 328; *State v. Bush*, 2005 WI 103, ¶ 17, 283 Wis. 2d 90, 699 N.W.2d 80, *holding modified by City of Eau Claire v. Booth*, 2016 WI 65, ¶ 17, 370 Wis. 2d 595, 882 N.W.2d 738. While this language may bind this Court, *Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d at 189–90, the State questions whether *every* facial challenge to a statute implicates subject matter jurisdiction. Indeed, the federal circuits are divided on whether a facial constitutional challenge is even jurisdictional. *United States v. Herrera*, 51 F.4th 1226, 1283 (10th Cir. 2022) (collecting cases).

Moreover, the question of subject matter jurisdiction begs the question of whether a litigant must first raise facial constitutional challenges in the circuit court. In *Cole* and *Bush*, the litigants first raised their claims in circuit court before raising them on appeal. *Cole*, 264 Wis. 2d 520, ¶ 2; *Bush*, 283 Wis. 2d 90, ¶ 1. And in *Bush*, 283 Wis. 2d 90, 15 n.6, the court acknowledged its prior holding in *State v. Wilks*, 121 Wis. 2d 93, 107, 358 N.W.2d 273 (1984), where it declined, in the exercise of its discretion, to consider a constitutional challenge to an ordinance “raised for the first time on appeal.” Indeed, “it has long been the rule that the constitutionality of a statute normally cannot be raised for the first time on appeal as a matter of right. *State v. Weso*, 60 Wis. 2d 404, 413, 210 N.W.2d 442 (1973) (collecting cases). And in *Milwaukee Cnty. v. Mary F.-R.*, 2013 WI 92, ¶ 3, 351 Wis. 2d 273, 839 N.W.2d 581, the court “assume[d], without deciding,” that Mary F.-R. did not forfeit her right to raise a constitutional challenge. In a concurrence joined by two other justices, Justice Ziegler noted that the court granted review to decide “whether a facial challenge to the constitutionality of a statute can be forfeited. *Id.* ¶ 72 (Ziegler, J, concurring). Justice Ziegler then proceeded to explain, by reference to prior caselaw, that a challenge to a statute's constitutionality can be forfeited through a failure to raise the claim in circuit court. *Id.* ¶¶ 74–77.

The State preserves these issues for Wisconsin Supreme Court review.

B. Wilhite’s facial challenge to section 971.17(3)(e) fails on the merits.⁹

1. Due process does not require States to treat insanity acquittees like other civil committees.

Wilhite’s facial constitutional challenge to section 971.17(3)(e) proceeds on the flawed assumption that, as an insanity acquittee, he has the *same* constitutional rights as a person who has been committed civilly. (Wilhite’s Br. 12.) Specifically, Wilhite ignores U.S. Supreme Court and Wisconsin Supreme Court precedents that recognize the authority of the government to treat criminally committed persons such as insanity acquittees differently from civilly committed persons.

To begin, the insanity defense is a statutory right of a criminal defendant and is not guaranteed under the United States nor Wisconsin Constitution. *State v. Lagrone*, 2016 WI 26, ¶ 32, 368 Wis. 2d 1, 878 N.W.2d 636. Unlike civil commitment actions, an insanity defense is an affirmative

⁹ By briefing the merits, the State does not concede that Wilhite’s facial constitutional challenge is properly before this Court. *See supra* Section II.A. This Court should decline an invitation to jump to an issue’s merits simply because a respondent briefed it. Rather, this Court should only address the merits if it first determines that it was properly preserved. The Wisconsin Supreme Court noted the double standard that respondents face when replying to arguments unpreserved in the lower court. “[R]esponding to an issue that the opposing party did not fully brief or raise below ‘open[s] the door for the Court of Appeals to consider the issue ‘thoroughly’ briefed.” *Estate of Miller v. Storey*, 2017 WI 99, ¶ 64 n.30, 378 Wis. 2d 358, 903 N.W.2d 759 (second alteration in original) (citations omitted). On the other hand, the respondent’s failure to address the merits “can be used against the respondent if the Court of Appeals’ decides to consider the issue and determines it has been forfeited by the party that declined to respond on the basis that the issue had not been fully briefed.” *Id.* (citation omitted).

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